ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Dorchester County

D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TYRONE DARIUS ELLISON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-002337

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

During an overnight recess, a juror was approached by a man he believed was related to appellant and asked to vote for appellant. The juror told the rest of the jury about the attempted influence and told them to be careful. Did the trial court err in refusing to grant appellant's motion for a mistrial because the appellant's right to a fair and impartial jury was violated after the communication to the entire jury about the attempted influence and that they needed to be careful?

2.

When determining whether to declare a mistrial because of outside influences on the jury, does the Sixth Amendment allow a trial judge to consider the weight of the evidence against a criminal defendant as a factor in his decision?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 7, 2014, appellant Tyrone Ellison was indicted by a Dorchester County grand jury for armed robbery and entering a bank with intent to steal. R. 565. On October 20, 2014, appellant was tried before the Honorable D. Craig Brown and a jury. R. 1. Don Sorenson and Phil Giese represented the State. R. 1. James Falk represented appellant. R. 1. The jury convicted appellant. R. 555, ll. 15 – 23. Judge Brown sentenced appellant to concurrent terms of thirty years' imprisonment on the bank charge and life imprisonment without the possibility of parole for armed robbery pursuant to South Carolina's recidivist statute. R. 562, l. 1 – 563, l. 24. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

During an overnight recess, a juror was approached by a man he believed was related to appellant and asked to vote for appellant. The juror told rest of the jury about the attempted influence and told them to be careful. The trial court erred in refusing to grant appellant's motion for a mistrial because the appellant's right to a fair and impartial jury was violated after the communication to the entire jury about the attempted influence and that they needed to be careful.

Factual Background

On April Fool's Day, 2013, a man wearing a wig, visor, and dark glasses robbed a bank in Dorchester County. R. 42, l. 19 – 46, l. 23. None of the five people in the bank that morning were able to identify the robber. David Lewis ("Lewis"), a retiree, was a customer at the bank that morning. R. 89, ll. 16 – 90, l. 13. Lewis had "been in a couple robberies." R. 91, ll. 7 – 18. He was in one of the offices and was suspicious of the robber when he entered the bank. R. 91, ll. 7 – 23. The bank employee with Lewis called 911 when it became obvious that a robbery was happening. R. 91, ll. 7 – 92, l. 4. After taking cash from the tellers, the robber left the bank. R. 92, ll. 1 – 4. R. 45, l. 4 – 46, l. 23.

Lewis left the bank, got in his truck, and followed the robber. R. 92, l. 5 – 93, l. 15. The robber went into the woods. R. 93, ll. 16 – 94, l. 6. Lewis drove into an apartment complex bordering the woods. R. 94, ll. 3 – 19. He noticed "an older model, dark green Honda with another fellow in it" that, to Lewis, did not belong in the neighborhood. R. 94, ll. 9 – 19. He turned his truck around and followed the green

Honda. R. 94, ll. 16 – 19. A man that Lewis thought resembled the robber, but without the disguise, came out of the woods and got in the car. R. 95, ll. 1 – 13. R. 93, ll. 11 – 15.

Lewis followed in his truck. R. 95, ll. 14 – 21. The Honda ran a red light and Lewis continued to give chase at speeds approaching 100 miles per hour. R. 97, ll. 2 – 24. The Honda eventually lost Lewis in traffic. R. 97, l. 18 – 98, l. 5. The Honda had a South Carolina license tag that began with either a “153” or a “193.” R. 98, l. 13 – 99, l. 5. While it was undisputed that appellant at one point had a green Honda that his mother purchased for him, the State’s witnesses and the defense witnesses contradicted each other on whether appellant still had the Honda on the day of the robbery. R. 124, l. 1 – 129, l. 20. R. 142, ll. 10 – 23. R. 307, l. 14 – 313, l. 2. R. 423, l. 21 – 424, l. 7. According to appellant’s mother and stepfather, appellant sold the Honda a week before the robbery. R. 307, l. 14 – 313, l. 2. R. 423, l. 21 – 424, l. 7.

A K-9 unit responded to the bank. R. 108, ll. 8 – 17. The dog led police into the woods. R. 109, l. 23 – 111, l. 3. The police eventually found a black visor, the latex glove, a wig, and a pistol. R. 111, ll. 5 – 16. An expert from SLED testified that DNA found on the wig and visor contained a mixture of DNA from at least two individuals, one of whom was appellant. R. 229, l. 20 – 237, l. 11. DNA found on the pistol was a mixture of at least three people, but appellant was excluded as a contributor. R. 235, ll. 1 – 6. A defense DNA expert attempted to analyze the items, but could not because SLED’s testing removed all of the usable DNA from the evidence. R. 378, l. 4 – 386, l. 19.

Appellant worked at Burger King. R. 405, ll. 3 – 4. The shift manager testified that appellant was the only person in April 2013 who unloaded delivery trucks. R. 405, l. 11 – 407, l. 15. She testified that appellant would have been the person who unloaded the delivery truck on the day of the robbery. R. 406, l. 21 – 407, l. 21. Another Burger King employee testified she worked on April 1, 2013, and that appellant unloaded the delivery truck. R. 413, ll. 7 – 25.

Juror White

The parties finished presenting their evidence on Wednesday, October 22, 2014. R. 254, l. 20. R. 460, l. 7 – 461, l. 22. The trial judge had other business the next day – Thursday – so he dismissed the jury until Friday. R. 460, l. 17 – 461, l. 22. When court resumed on Friday morning, Judge Brown cleared the courtroom. R. 463, l. 19 – 464, l. 5. Judge Brown then had the bailiff bring in juror William White (“White”). After swearing Juror White, Judge Brown asked him about an encounter with someone during the break in the trial who asked the juror “to vote a certain way.” R. 464, ll. 8 – 21.

Juror White described someone coming to his house at around 4:00 PM the previous day (Thursday) “on behalf of the defendant.” R. 464, l. 22 – 465, l. 15. Juror White believed the person was “somebody related to the defendant.” R. 465, ll. 2 – 4. Juror White told the person to leave his front porch. R. 465, ll. 2 – 4.

Juror White told Judge Brown:

Let me ask you this: when you guys made us jurors, you didn’t set up blank guidelines what to do if something like that happens, so I just went to work.

THE COURT: Say that again now.

THE JUROR: When you guys decided who would be jurors, you didn't – you didn't say, "Do this in case this happens," so I – it was really no way for me to react to that.

THE COURT: You're okay. You did exactly what you were supposed to do this morning.

R. 465, ll. 16 – 24. After getting a description of the man who approached Juror White, Judge Brown asked him if he knew "whether or not anybody else in the jury has been approached in this case." R. 466, ll. 9 – 11. The following colloquy then occurred:

THE JUROR: No, sir, but I wasn't sure if that fell under your rules as don't speak about the case, **but I did let them know just because I'm a family man and, you know, I think they would want to know to be careful, so I did let them know.**

THE COURT: Let me ask you this: if you were allowed to remain on this jury, do you believe you could be fair and impartial and decide the case based upon the evidence as presented in this courtroom?

THE JUROR: No, sir, with my military background, **I feel like if somebody is desperate enough to approach me on behalf of the defendant, then I believe they are guilty.**

THE COURT: And you do not believe you can be fair and impartial?

THE JUROR: To be honest with you, based on the evidence that was presented to me and him approaching me, no, I've already decided, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Mr. Sorenson?

MR. SORENSON: I don't have anything.

THE COURT: Excuse him.

MR. FALK: I would excuse him, but I have another concern now.

THE COURT: And you haven't discussed it with the rest of the jury?

THE JUROR: I just let them know that I was approached and for them to be careful, you know.

R. 466, l. 12 – 531, l. 12 (emphasis added). Juror White’s comments about the approach made by someone he believed was related to the defendant and warning to be careful was made to all the jurors. R. 469, ll. 6 – 9.

Judge Brown then brought the rest of the jury into the courtroom. R. 470, ll. 9 – 19. He asked the jury whether Juror White had conveyed to all of them “that someone approached him yesterday about this case.” R. 470, l. 20 – 471, l. 2. The transcript notes that the jurors indicated affirmatively. R. 471, l. 3. The court failed to ask about Juror White’s admonition to be careful. The trial judge then asked the jurors whether they could remain fair and impartial, “based upon your knowledge that someone approached Mr. White about this case, asking him to vote in a certain way.” R. 471, ll. 10 – 22. The transcript notes that no jurors raised their hand to tell the judge they could not be fair and impartial. R. 471, ll. 18 – 23. The judge asked the jurors to raise their hands if they had been approached by anyone “in any way, shape or form.” R. 471, l. 24 – 472, l. 5. No jurors raised their hands. R. 472, ll. 6 – 8. Judge Brown asked one more time whether anyone could not be fair and impartial. R. 472, ll. 9 – 15. No juror responded. R. 472, ll. 9 – 15. The jurors then returned to the jury room. R. 472, ll. 16 – 19.

Appellant moved for a mistrial. R. 472, l. 25 – 473, l. 18. Appellant argued that, despite their collective assent to the judge’s question about whether they could still be fair, the jury had been tainted and would believe appellant guilty because of the attempted influence of Juror White. R. 473, ll. 4 – 18. The solicitor argued that granting a mistrial would “be rewarding” appellant because he believed that appellant was “complicit.” R. 473, ll. 20 – 23. The solicitor told the trial judge that on a jail call,

appellant was overheard referencing “Margaret” and that Juror White lived on Margaret Street. R. 473, l. 25 – 474, l. 7. This jail call was not introduced into evidence.

Judge Brown took a recess to research the issue, stating before he left the bench that he was “not inclined to grant a mistrial, because there is absolutely nothing that could prohibit it from going on again and again and again and again unless the entire jury panel, every time this young man’s tried, is sequestered and put up in a hotel room, and that’s not the way our system works.” R. 474, ll. 8 – 19. Judge Brown stated he agreed with the solicitor that granting a mistrial “would be, in some sense, rewarding the defense. . . .” R. 474, ll. 20 – 24.

When Judge Brown returned to the bench, he immediately ruled and denied the motion for a mistrial. R. 475, l. 17 – 478, l. 4. The court first cited State v. McDaniel, 275 S.C. 222, 268 S.E.2d 585 (1980) for the proposition that the matter was within his discretion. R. 475, ll. 17 – 25. He then cited State v. Carrigan, 284 S.C. 610, 328 S.E.2d 119 (Ct. App. 1985), for the proposition that a “defendant must show prejudice resulting from the outside influence on the jury to obtain a mistrial.” R. 476, ll. 1 – 3. Finally, the judge cited several factors from State v. Kelly, 331 S.C. 132, 502 S.E.2d 99 (1998). R. 476, l. 4 – 478, l. 4. The first factor considered was the “number of jurors exposed.” R. 476, l. 4 – 478, l. 4. Judge Brown found that one juror, Juror White, was exposed. R. 476, l. 4 – 478, l. 4. He then stated that although it was “abundantly clear” that the jury learned of the attempt to influence Juror White, that only Juror White was actually exposed to someone trying to influence his vote. R. 476, l. 4 – 478, l. 4. The judge stated that none of the jurors indicated they could not be fair. R. 476, l. 4 – 478, l. 4.

The judge also interpreted Kelly as requiring him to assess the strength of the State's case. R. 476, l. 4 – 476, l. 4. Judge Brown stated there was “substantial evidence” of appellant's guilt which weighed in the State's favor. R. 476, l. 4 – 478, l. 4. After his ruling, the attorneys made their closing arguments and the trial judge gave his charge. R. 483, l. 2 – 553, l. 17. The jury returned a guilty verdict in thirty-eight minutes. R. 554, l. 14 – 555, l. 5.

Discussion

Once it became “abundantly clear” that Juror White told the other jurors about the attempt to influence his vote and that they should be afraid, the trial court was required to declare a mistrial. “In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury. . . .” U.S. Const. amend. VI. “The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution guarantee a defendant a fair trial by a panel of impartial and indifferent jurors.” State v. Hill, 394 S.C. 312, 320, 714 S.E.2d 879, 883 (Ct. App. 2011). “The integrity of jury proceedings must not be jeopardized by unauthorized invasions.” Remmer v. United States, 347 U.S. 227, 229 (1954). “In a criminal case, any private communication, contact, or tampering directly or indirectly, with a juror during a trial about the matter pending before the jury is, for obvious reasons, deemed presumptively prejudicial.” Id.

In Remmer, the defendant was convicted of income tax evasion. Id. at 228. After the verdict, the defendant learned that “a person unnamed” had communicated with the jury's foreman and “remarked to him that he could profit by bringing in a verdict favorable to the [defendant].” Id. The juror told the judge, who informed the prosecution

and the FBI, but did not tell the defendant. Id. The judge concluded the statement was made in jest. Id.

The United States Supreme Court reversed. Id. at 229-30. The defendant argued that had he known of the incident, he would have moved for a mistrial. Id. at 229. The Court concluded that a presumption of prejudice attaches when an outside party attempts to influence a juror. Id. at 229. “The presumption is not conclusive, but the burden rests heavily upon the Government to establish, after notice to and hearing of the defendant, that such contact with the juror was harmless to the defendant.” Id. The Fourth Circuit applies the Remmer presumption in such a way that shifts the burden to prove that “there exists no reasonable possibility that the jury’s verdict was influenced by an improper communication.” United States v. Cheek, 94 F.3d 136, 141 (4th Cir. 1996) (internal quotations omitted).

In this case, the trial judge failed to recognize that prejudice was presumed. Instead, the trial judge assumed that granting a mistrial would reward the defendant. R. 474, ll. 8 – 22. The analysis used by the trial court to reach its conclusion was flawed. While McDaniel does say that mistrials are often within the trial judge’s discretion, no motion for a mistrial was made in McDaniel. McDaniel at 223-24, 268 S.E.2d at 586. McDaniel dealt only with a juror making “improper remarks and gestures.” Id. The juror was replaced by a qualified alternate and the defendant did not move for a mistrial. Id. The Court stated, “Admittedly, the appropriate remedy for improper communication between jurors and outsiders is the declaration of a mistrial.” Id. The trial judge erred by ignoring this important statement of law and focusing on the abuse of discretion standard of review.

The trial judge also erred in his use of Carrigan. In Carrigan, a juror had a short conversation with a prosecution witness about the witness's sister having lost weight. Carrigan at 613, 328 S.E.2d at 120-21. The juror had no conversation with the witness about the trial. Id. The trial judge excused the juror and replaced him with an alternate. Id. This Court ruled that the "benign nature of the conversation" did not warrant a mistrial. Id. Far from any in-depth analysis of prejudice (because none was warranted), the Court observed that "the mere fact that some conversation occurs between a juror and a witness for the State does not necessarily prejudice a defendant." Id. The trial judge erred by focusing on this offhand comment concerning prejudice instead of the black letter law in the opinion that a criminal defendant is "constitutionally guaranteed a fair trial by an impartial jury, and in order to fully safeguard this protection, it is required that the jury render its verdict free from outside influence. Id. Once the jury had been influenced by Juror White's comments, the trial court was required to declare a mistrial.

The judge also erred in his analysis under Kelly. Kelly involved a pro-death penalty pamphlet that one juror attempted to circulate during the penalty phase of a capital trial. Kelly at 139-44, 502 S.E.2d at 103-05. Kelly did not involve a contact from one of the parties who attempted to influence or intimidate a juror. The trial judge in Kelly found that no jurors other than the one who possessed the pamphlet were sufficiently exposed for it to cause their impartiality to be questioned. Id. The juror who brought the pamphlet was dismissed. Id. The trial judge erred in this case by using the Kelly court's finding that the extraneous influence was confined to the juror who possessed the pamphlet as analogous to Juror White being the only juror exposed to outside influence.

The crucial difference between this case and Kelly is that Juror White transmitted the attempt to influence him to the entire jury. All of the jurors learned that somebody associated with the defendant attempted to influence Juror White. Even worse, Juror White told all of the jurors to be careful. R. 466, ll. 12 – 16. R. 467, ll. 11 – 12. Juror White essentially told the jurors they should be afraid of appellant because there is no reason to be careful unless someone is dangerous. Even though no juror chose to single themselves out and respond to the judge that they could not be fair, once this element was introduced into the jury, it could not be impartial and decide the case on the evidence. Juror White should have informed only the court of the improper contact. Instead, he disobeyed the trial court's instructions not to talk about the case and informed the other jurors.

This case is similar to State v. Bryant, 354 S.C. 390, 581 S.E.2d 157 (2003). In Bryant, after juror qualification, the police contacted jurors' families and associates to find out if they could vote for the death penalty. Id. at 392-94, 581 S.E.2d at 158-60. The jurors themselves were not contacted. Id. The jurors learned from family members, neighbors, and each other about the contacts. Id. The trial judge denied the defendant's motion for a new trial finding that the jury was fair and impartial. Id.

The Court reversed. Id. Citing Remmer, the Court held that the defendant's right to an impartial jury had been compromised. Id. at 395-96, 581 S.E.2d at 160-61. The Court held that the questioning "could have been perceived as an attempt to intimidate jurors." Id. The questioning resulted in a jury that "was not fair and impartial and, therefore, appellant's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights were violated." Id. At no

point in Bryant did the Court discuss the weight of the evidence or the strength of the State's case against the defendant. The Court conducted no harmless error analysis.

Like in Bryant, the jurors in this case were aware of the attempt to influence one of their number. Nothing in the Bryant decision states that any juror expressly said it caused them not to be fair or impartial, although the jurors expressed concern and one felt it might be jury tampering. Consistent with Remmer, the Court in Bryant did not focus on whether the jurors **said** they could be fair or impartial, but instead assumed that such contacts would result in a tainted jury. The trial court in this case failed to recognize this crucial distinction between cases where jurors have innocuous conversations with witnesses or read the newspaper and cases where one of the parties attempts to influence jurors directly or indirectly.

The trial judge also erred in its assessment of the evidence against appellant. As will be shown in Issue 2, trial courts should not consider this as a factor and to that extent, Kelly and our cases that include this factor should either be overruled or limited to cases that do not involve intimidation or attempts at influence by a party. Even if the weight of the evidence can be constitutionally considered, the evidence against appellant was not overwhelming. The State's best evidence was the DNA on the items found in the woods. Witnesses contradicted each other on whether appellant had access to a green Honda. None of the people in the bank could identify appellant. Appellant never gave any incriminating statements. Witnesses testified on appellant's behalf that he was working at Burger King on the day of the robbery. This evidence is not sufficient to foreclose any possibility that appellant would have been acquitted.

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