ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Dorchester County
Honorable D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2014-002337

RECEIVED

FEB 12 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

TYRONE DARIUS ELLISON,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. PASCOE, JR.
Solicitor, First Judicial Circuit

140 N. Main Street, Suite 102
Summerville, SC 29483
(843) 871-2640

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Dorchester County

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

established that an appellant seeking reversal of a decision by the trial court must show both error and prejudice.”). “Preservation of the opportunity to prove **actual bias** is a guarantee of a defendant’s right to an impartial jury.” Dennis v. United States, 339 U.S. 162, 172 (1950) (emphasis added); see Remmer v. United States, 347 U.S. 227, 230 (1954) (**remanding** a case to the district court for a hearing to determine whether an attempt by an individual to bribe a juror during the course of Remmer’s trial “was harmful to [Remmer]”).

In assessing during such a hearing whether outside influences affected a jury, relevant factors to consider include: (1) the number of jurors exposed; (2) the weight of the evidence properly before the jury; and (3) the likelihood curative measures were effective in reducing any prejudice. Harris, 340 S.C. at 63, 530 S.E.2d at 627; see United States v. Basham, 561 F.3d 302, 320 (4th Cir. 2009) (“Courts look at a variety of factors in determining if this standard has been met, including the extent of the improper communication, the extent to which the communication was discussed and considered by the jury, the type of information communicated, the timing of the exposure, and the strength of the Government’s case.”). Generally, the determination of whether the exposure of the jury to extraneous matter was prejudicial must be left to the sound discretion of the trial judge, who is in the best position to assess the jurors’ impartiality and credibility. Kelly, 331 S.C. at 142, 502 S.E.2d at 104. However, in most hearings, the issue “will frequently turn upon the testimony” of the jurors themselves in regard to whether they were affected by the outside influence. Smith, 455 U.S. at 217, n. 7.

Critically, a trial judge’s determination of the neutrality or impartiality of a juror should not be disturbed on appeal absent manifest error. DeLee v. Knight, 266 S.C. 103, 111-112, 221 S.E.2d 844, 847 (1975) (citing Irvin v. Dowd, 366 U.S. 717 (1961)); see

State v. Simpson, 325 S.C. 37, 41, 479 S.E.2d 57, 59 (1996) (“A juror’s competence is within the trial judge’s discretion and is not reviewable on appeal unless wholly unsupported by the evidence.”). Deference should be given to the trial judge’s decision regarding the qualification of the jury as the trial judge is able to actually see and hear the jurors in assessing their demeanor, credibility, and impartiality. State v. Evins, 373 S.C. 404, 418, 645 S.E.2d 904, 911 (2007); see Patton v. Yount, 467 U.S. 1025, 1038 (1984) (instructing a trial judge’s determinations on the impartiality of a juror are presumed to be correct and are entitled to special deference on appeal). “The findings of the trial court on questions of fact relating to the fitness of a juror are conclusive, and will not be disturbed on review unless manifestly erroneous.” State v. Maxey, 218 S.C. 106, 110, 62 S.E.2d 100, 102 (1950). “This principle of law is so well established it hardly becomes necessary to cite authority to sustain it.” Id.

In the case sub judice, the jury panel was exposed to extraneous information when a fellow juror, White, advised all the other jurors to be careful in light of the fact he had been approached about the case and asked to vote in a certain way during a trial recess. In light of the jury’s exposure to extraneous information, the trial judge conducted a hearing to determine the extraneous information’s effect, if any, on the jury panel. During that hearing, the trial judge first spoke with White and, through speaking with him, ascertained the circumstances of the improper contact, the extent to which that information had been relayed to the jury panel as a whole, and the impact that contact had on White. In light of the fact White revealed he did not personally believe he could remain fair and impartial as a result of the improper contact, the trial judge removed White from the jury and replaced him with an alternate juror. Thereafter, the trial judge questioned the remaining jurors about their knowledge of the improper contact with

White, verified none of the remaining jurors had been personally approached by anyone in regard to Appellant's case, and questioned the jurors several times regarding whether they could remain fair, remain impartial, and decide the case solely upon the evidence and testimony presented during trial. In response to that questioning, the remaining jurors unequivocally confirmed they could remain fair and impartial in Appellant's case while doing nothing to make the trial judge question the sincerity of their responses in any way, shape, or form. Only then did the trial judge deny Appellant's mistrial motion.

Critically, by conducting a hearing to determine what impact the third-party contact with White had on the jury, the trial judge took the appropriate steps in response to discovering the jury misconduct, which did **not** automatically necessitate the abandonment of the trial.⁷ See Remmer, 347 U.S. at 229-230 ("The trial court . . . should

⁷ On appeal, Appellant contends the trial judge erred by not finding the improper contact to be presumptively prejudicial while further contending the trial judge incorrectly failed to apply the framework utilized by the federal courts in analyzing the effect of misconduct on a jury. Significantly though, courts in South Carolina do **not** presume prejudice when addressing matters of jury misconduct. See, e.g., Aldret, 333 S.C. at 314, 509 S.E.2d at 814 ("[A] defendant must demonstrate prejudice from jury misconduct in order to be entitled to a new trial."). Furthermore, to the extent the federal courts do presume prejudice in situations involving jury misconduct, state courts are **not** required to draw such a presumption just as they are **not** required to analyze matters of misconduct using the same framework employed by the federal courts. See United States v. Cheek, 94 F.3d 136, 143 (4th Cir. 1996) ("None of these cases purports to modify the presumption of prejudice **applicable to federal cases** arising from 'any private communication, contact, or tampering' with a juror, which is explained in Remmer I." (emphasis added)); Young v. Herring, 938 F.2d 543, 558, n. 7 (5th Cir. 1991) ("In Remmer, . . . the Supreme Court was exercising its supervisory powers over the lower federal courts rather than ruling on the Constitution."); People v. Hunter, 43 Colo. App. 406, 408, 607 P.2d 1026, 1027 (Colo. Ct. App. 1980) ("Our reading of the Remmer decisions . . . convinces us that they arise as an exercise of the Supreme Court's supervisory power to formulate and apply proper standards for enforcement of the criminal law in federal courts, and not as a matter of constitutional compulsion. Thus, they are not binding on the states."); see also United States v. Williams-Davis, 90 F.3d 490, 496 (D.C. Cir. 1996) (recognizing the Remmer decision's presumption of prejudice was subsequently substantially narrowed by the United States Supreme Court's decision in Smith); United States v. Pennell, 737 F.2d 521, 532-533 (6th Cir. 1984) (holding the Remmer decision's presumption of prejudice was eliminated by subsequent United States Supreme Court case law and instructing a defendant is now required to demonstrate actual prejudice resulted from improper contact with a juror in order to be entitled to a new trial); cf. Murphy v. Florida, 421 U.S. 794, 797-798 (1975) ("Noting that the jurors had been exposed to information with a high potential for prejudice, this Court [in Marshall v. United States, 360 U.S. 310, 311-312 (1959)] reversed the conviction. It did so, however, expressly '(i)n the exercise of (its) supervisory power to formulate and apply proper standards for enforcement of the criminal law in the federal courts,' and not as a matter of constitutional compulsion. In the face of so clear a statement, it cannot be maintained that Marshall was a constitutional ruling now applicable, through the Fourteenth Amendment, to the States." (citation omitted)).

determine the circumstances, the impact thereof upon the juror, and whether or not it was prejudicial, in a hearing with all interested parties permitted to participate.”); see also Smith, 455 U.S. at 217 (“[D]ue process does not require a new trial every time a juror has been placed in a potentially compromising situation. Were that the rule, few trials would be constitutionally acceptable. . . . Due process means a jury capable and willing to decide the case solely on the evidence before it, and a trial judge ever watchful to prevent prejudicial occurrences and to determine the effect of such occurrences when they happen. Such determinations may properly be made at a hearing like that ordered in Remmer and held in this case.”). Furthermore, in light of the fact he employed a variety of curative measures to ensure Appellant suffered no prejudice as a result of the misconduct directed at White, the trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion in declining to grant the extreme remedy of a mistrial once he was assured the misconduct had not affected the jurors who ultimately decided Appellant’s case. See Harris, 340 S.C. at 63, 530 S.E.2d at 628 (“A mistrial should only be granted when absolutely necessary. The trial judge is in the best position to determine the credibility of the jurors; therefore, this Court grants him broad deference on this issue.” (citations omitted)); see also State v. Beckham, 334 S.C. 302, 310, 513 S.E.2d 606, 610 (1999) (“The granting of a motion for mistrial is an extreme measure which should be taken only where an incident is so grievous that prejudicial effect can be removed in no other way.”).

Regarding the curative measures, the trial judge first and foremost removed and replaced White after he indicated he could not remain fair and impartial. Such a step substantially eliminated any potential for prejudice that could have resulted from the misconduct as White was the only juror directly exposed to any improper communications. See Kelly, 331 S.C. at 143, 502 S.E.2d at 105 (“In our opinion, the trial

judge did not abuse his discretion in denying appellant's motion for a mistrial. Instead, the trial judge took appropriate action by removing the tainted juror from the jury and replacing her with an alternate juror to ensure appellant received a fair and impartial verdict."); see also State v. McDaniel, 275 S.C. 222, 224, 268 S.E.2d 585, 586 (1980) (finding the removal of a juror during the middle of trial was not prejudicial where the removed juror was replaced with a qualified alternate juror).

Additionally, beyond removing and replacing White, the trial judge questioned the remaining jurors to ensure they were unaffected by the misconduct, and, importantly, the jurors who ultimately decided Appellant's case unanimously and unequivocally indicated they were not impacted by the improper contact with White and could fairly and impartially decide the case based solely upon the evidence and testimony presented during trial. Significantly, in light of the fact those jurors had **no** incentives whatsoever to be anything but forthright in regard to whether they were unbiased as they had not committed any misconduct and had no stakes in the outcome of the trial, the trial judge properly relied upon the jurors' representations in determining their impartiality was not impaired as a result of the misconduct.⁸ See Smith, 455 U.S. at 255 (O'Connor, J.,

⁸ Consistent with the argument raised by defense counsel during trial, Appellant appears to suggest on appeal the jurors **were** influenced by White's comments despite their contentions to the contrary. Notably though, aside from pure speculation, the only evidence presented during trial in regard to the jurors' impartiality was their unequivocal representations to the trial judge they could remain fair and impartial, and the trial judge fully credited those representations in finding the jurors were **not** affected by the misconduct, which was a finding entitled to substantial weight on appeal. See Kelly, 331 S.C. at 143, 502 S.E.2d at 105 ("The trial judge did not find members of the jury were being untruthful. We respect this finding."). Critically, as the United States Supreme Court has made clear, the representations of jurors in regard to their impartiality often resolve questions as to the effect of misconduct on the impartiality of the jury, and such representations are in no way inherently suspect. See Smith, 455 U.S. at 217, n. 7 ("Respondent correctly notes that determinations made in Remmer-type hearings will frequently turn upon the testimony of the juror in question, **but errs in contending that such evidence is inherently suspect.**" (emphasis added)). As a result, notwithstanding his base speculation the jurors were untruthful in his case, Appellant has wholly failed to meet his burden of establishing the jurors were influenced by the misconduct involving White. See Calderon v. California, 525 U.S. 141, 146 (1998) ("The social costs of retrial or resentencing are significant. . . . The State is not to be put to this arduous task based on mere speculation that the defendant was prejudiced by trial error; the court must find that the defendant was actually

concurring) (explaining a hearing “could adequately determine whether or not the juror was biased” in a situation such as one involving a third-party attempt to bribe a juror because a juror in such a situation would not personally be involved in any misconduct, would not have an actual stake in the outcome of trial, and would have “no significant incentive to shield his biases”); see also Dennis, 339 U.S. at 170-171 (“We must credit [the jurors’] representations, and that is particularly so in the absence of any evidence which would indicate an opposite opinion among [the challenged jurors]. One may not know or altogether understand the imponderables which cause one to think what he thinks, but surely one who is trying as an honest man to live up to the sanctity of his oath is well qualified to say whether he has an unbiased mind in a certain matter.”).

Furthermore, the trial judge considered the substantial evidence of Appellant’s guilt that had been presented during trial before the improper contact occurred, which included testimony that conclusively established Appellant’s D.N.A. was on the robber’s wig, visor, and glove, linked Appellant to the getaway car, showed Appellant sold the getaway car just hours after the bank robbery before subsequently trying to eliminate his name from the car’s purchase history, and demonstrated Appellant’s own mother was 75% certain Appellant, whose physical characteristics fully matched the physical characteristics of the robber, committed the robbery after seeing surveillance footage from the incident.⁹ In light of that overwhelming evidence, the misconduct’s ability to

prejudiced by the error.” (citations omitted)); see also State v. Bonneau, 276 S.C. 122, 126, 276 S.E.2d 300, 302 (1981) (“The defendant was entitled to a fair trial, but not necessarily one satisfactory to him. This he has had.”).

⁹ On appeal, Appellant contends the trial judge’s consideration of the strength of the evidence was improper and unconstitutional. However, Appellant did not raise such an argument to the trial judge during trial and is, therefore, precluded from raising such an argument for the first time on appeal. See State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (instructing a defendant cannot raise one argument in support of an issue at trial and then raise a different argument in support of that issue to the appellate court); State v. Thomason, 355 S.C. 278, 288, 584 S.E.2d 143, 148 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] party cannot argue one theory at

have an affect or impact on the jury and the verdict was, at a minimum, substantially reduced. See Dallago v. United States, 427 F.2d 546, 558 (D.C. Cir. 1969) (“Certainly the weight of the prosecution’s evidence becomes relevant in estimating ‘what effect the error had or reasonably may be taken to have had upon the jury’s decision.’ ” (footnote omitted)); see also United States v. Blackwell, 459 F.3d 739, 769-770 (6th Cir. 2006) (concluding any error that resulted from jury misconduct was harmless and not prejudicial because the jury would have convicted Blackwell regardless of whether any misconduct had occurred in light of the evidence presented during trial); United States v. O’Neal, 180 F.3d 115, 118 (4th Cir. 1999) (concluding the district court judge did not abuse his discretion in denying O’Neal’s motion for a new trial based on jury misconduct where the district court judge determined the jurors’ professed fear of O’Neal caused by O’Neal’s actions during trial did not affect the verdict in light of the overwhelming evidence of guilt that had been presented).

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